FILED FILED SUPREME COURT Court of Appeals STATE OF WASHINGTON Division III 6/13/2018 State of Washington BY SUSAN L. CARLSON **CLERK** 6/1/2018 3:45 PM 1 2 3 4 5 6 95954-4 7 8 COA NO. 350541 9 10 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 11 12 IN RE THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF DAN MCANALLY AND THE RISTE TRUST 13 Darrell Riste, 14 the beneficiary of the Estate and the Riste Trust, 15 Appellant/Petitioner 16 v. 17 18 Baker Boyer Bank, the Personal Representative of the Estate of Dan McAnally and 19 the Trustee of the Riste Trust 20 Appellee/Respondent 21 ON REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY 22 23 MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW 24 Samuel R. Walker, Esq., Pro

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER:

Darrell Riste asks this court to accept review of the decision or parts of the decision designated in Part B of this motion.

B. DECISION BELOW:

Petitioner requests review of the Court of Appeals' Decision (35054-1) affirming the Yakima Superior Court's order in Case # 12-4-00514-8 denying Petitioner's request to remove the Personal Representative of the Estate of Dan McAnally and/or the Trustee of the Riste Trust and denial of fiduciary fees (attached as Appendix A). Petitioner also requests review of that portion of the Court of Appeal's Decision which decides the matters herein based on the legal bar of Laches because the Respondent did not make any Laches argument in the Superior Court or in the Court of Appeals.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1) Was Petitioner's Constitutional right(s) to Due Process violated A) When the Court made findings which exceeded the scope of its authority? B) When the Court refused to grant the Petitioner's request for a continuance, discovery and/or a jury trial?
- 2) Does RCW 11.12.250 require a Trust be evidenced by a written instrument separate from a Will or can a Will make a valid gift of realty to a Trustee of a Trust which was not funded during the Testator's lifetime without compliance with RCW 11.12.250?
- 3) Does the Probate Court have jurisdiction to order the sale of Estate Real Property intended by the Decedent to pass in kind under the residuary clause of the Will where the Estate has sufficient liquidity to pay all debts, expenses and taxes of administration without the sale? Where title to the realty is vested in the beneficiary by Statute?
- 4) Does a Non Intervention Personal Representative breach any fiduciary duty by selling Estate Real Property which was intended by the Decedent to pass in kind under the residuary

clause of the Will? Where title was vested by Statute in the beneficiary? Where the sale was not necessary to pay any debts, expenses and/or taxes of administration? Where the beneficiary's opposed the sale?

- 5) Does the Personal Representative of an Estate breach any fiduciary duty to the beneficiary(s) or the Court when he misleads both the beneficiary and the Court by informing them that he has a mandatory duty to diversify the Estate's commercial realty when in fact RCW 11.68.090 specifically provides that no duty to diversify exists?
- 6) Is a Non Invention Personal Representative and/or Trustee required to provide the beneficiary's of an Estate and/or Trust all relevant material information necessary to protect their interests? Where the PR and/or Trustee privately carry out a business scheme to degrade property value for the purpose of underselling business assets and real property of the deceased estate.
- 7) Does a Non Intervention Personal Representative and/or Trustee breach any fiduciary duty by providing the beneficiary's of an Estate and/or Trust incorrect factual information, withholding factual information and/or providing incorrect explanations of the statutory legal requirements of administration?
- 8) Was the Petition for Removal barred by laches as opined by the Court of Appeals? Where the Respondent hasn't raised a Laches Defense in the Superior Court?
- 9) Can a Petition for Removal of a Personal Representative and/or a Trustee be brought at any time during administration?
- 10) Is a Non Intervention Personal Representative required to abide by any statutory and/or non statutory fiduciary duty's to the beneficiary's of an Estate?
- 11) Does a Non Intervention Personal Representative violate any fiduciary duty when he acts in contravention of the written instructions in the Will?
- 12) Is there a conflict of interest when a Personal Representative of an Estate and a Trustee of a Trust are the same individual/entity and the Estate and Trust have conflicting pecuniary interests in commercial realty with a value of over 1.1 million dollars? Where the

10

13

14

11

15 16 17

18 19

2021

23

22

24 25

26

2728

beneficiary's under the Estate and the Trust are different?

- 13) Is a Personal Representative and/or a Trustee's failure to adhere to the quarterly distribution instructions set forth within the testamentary/trust instrument a breach of fiduciary duty? Where he failed to make any distribution payments at all for several years despite there being adequate funds to make the required payments?
- 16) Did the Personal Representative violate any of the restrictions imposed by the legislature upon the powers of the Personal Representative as set forth under RCW 11.68.090, Chapters 11.97, 11.98, 11.100, 11.56 and/or 11.04 and if so, did the Superior Court as well as the Court of Appeals uphold an illegal violation.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE:

Petitioner as a beneficiary of the Estate of Dan McAnally and as a beneficiary of the Riste Trust filed a Petition in the Yakima Superior Court to remove the Personal Representative and the Trustee who were the same individual/entity, namely, Baker Boyer Bank. Petitioner filed his Petition for Removal in conjunction with a civil complaint for damages for harm caused by the Personal Representative and Trustee. In accordance with statutory requirements Petitioner filed his Petition for Removal based upon the prima facie evidence which was available to him at that time. The Petition for removal was the legislatively authorized legal process to prevent further damages which were appropriately claimed by the Beneficiary's in the civil complaint that was yet to be decided before the Superior Court itself. The Petition for Removal alerted the Probate Court of the corresponding civil complaint seeking damages in excess of sixteen million dollars and that the Probate Court should continue the removal hearing until after discovery was completed in the civil matter if further evidence was needed to justify permanent removal. The Probate Court Commissioner erroneously exceeded the scope of his authority/jurisdiction at the removal hearing by making conclusive findings of fact on the underlying fiduciary's acts rather than restricting his findings to determining whether or not the prima facie evidence justified removal and/or to continue the matter until after further discovery in the Superior Court civil matter was completed. The Commissioner's unauthorized findings/ruling has prejudiced

28

Petitioner's duly filed civil complaint which has also been erroneously precluded based upon the Commissioner's unauthorized findings which effectively resulted in a denial of Petitioner's Constitutional rights to Due Process and being restored the assets entirely. The Commissioner was not authorized or requested to make conclusive findings on the underlying breaches of fiduciary duty's at issue in the civil matter and was only authorized to make a finding that removal was or was not justified based upon the statutorily authorized prima facie evidence. Petitioner is seeking review of the Court of Appeals affirmance of the Superior Court's order and findings which exceeded the scope of the jurisdiction of the probate court and unconstitutionally denied Petitioner his Due Process rights and illegally alienated the beneficiary's from real estate and business property specifically designated by the deceased, Dan McAnally.

Petitioner is also requesting review of the Court of Appeals affirmance of the Superior Court's refusal to remove the Personal Representative of the Estate of Dan McAnally and/or the Trustee of the Riste Trust who were the same individual, namely, Baker Boyer Bank for their various misdeeds committed during administration and/or their stark conflict of interest. Petitioner presented the Superior Court un-controverted prima facie evidence and legal argument proving the Personal Representative and Trustee breached several of their respective duties to the beneficiary's and that removal was justified for the individual breaches or in the aggregate. Petitioner cited to all of the evidence and legal argument within the Record before the Superior Court in his Appeal Brief by citing to the numerous documents proving individually and/or collectively that the breach of fiduciary duty occurred. The Court of Appeal opined that Petitioner's citations to these multiple pages of the Record collectively rather than individually was an error in citation for which they declined to review the alleged Superior Court's errors. Petitioner's citations to all the documentary evidence of the fiduciary's breaches of duty's could not have been cited in any other manner as there was more than one instance of the particular breach found within the documentary evidence cited. There were in fact numerous violations of the fiduciary duty(s) and Petitioner necessarily referenced the record by citing to all of the evidence in the Record which proved the point exactly as it was brought forth in the Superior Court. The Court of Appeals has repeated the Superior Court's failure to address the Petitioner's

written instrument and as required by the legislature; the Court of Appeals erroneously affirmed without discussion. The Superior Court incorrectly applied the law in determining that there was a valid gift from the Estate to the Trustee of the Riste Trust because the Riste Trust was not evidenced by a written instrument separate from the Will as required by the legislature and the Court of Appeals failed to address Petitioner's assignment of error under RCW 11.12.250 & 11.98.008. The Superior Court erroneously found that the Personal Representative and/or Trustee's violation of the Trust's requirement to make quarterly payments of income to the beneficiary's was not a breach of fiduciary duty and the Court of Appeals erroneously affirmed. The Superior Court erroneously found that the Personal Representative and/or Trustee was not required to provide the beneficiary with all relevant material information necessary to protect their interests as set forth by the legislature and the Court of Appeals erroneously affirmed. The Superior Court erroneously found that a Personal Representative and/or Trustee's Non Intervention powers exempted him from all statutory and non statutory fiduciary duty's and the Court of Appeals erroneously affirmed. The Superior Court erroneously found that there was no conflict of interest between the Personal Representative of the Estate and the Trustee of the Trust where both the Estate and the Trust had competing interests in commercial realty valued over 1.1 million dollars and/or where the Trustee had a personal interest in yearly trustee and investment fees he would earn if the Trust was valid; the Court of Appeals erroneously affirmed without comment.

evidence and arguments including that the Decedent's intentions were not followed in regards to

the limitations imposed upon the PR/Trustee's right to sell real property as set forth by the

22

23

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED: E.

24 25

26

27

28

1) VALIDITY OF A GIFT BY WILL TO THE TRUSTEE OF AN UNFUNDED TRUST WHICH DOES NOT COMPLY WITH THE LEGISLATURES REQUIREMENTS AS SET FORTH BY RCW 11.12.250 & 11.98.008.

Review should be accepted because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict

27

28

with decision(s) of the Supreme Court and decisions of the Court of Appeals which require a Personal Representative to protect an Estate from doubtful claims. (RAP 13.4 (b)(1)&(2); Peoples Nat'l Bank v. Livingston, 8 Wn. App. 519 (1973) – "He must perform his duties not only for the benefit of the legatees but must also protect the estate from invalid and doubtful claims") (State ex rel. Smith v. Superior Court, 142 Wash. 300 (1927) – Indicating that the Court will remove an unfaithful executor who participates in a fraudulent conveyance or fails to claim property)

Petitioner presented uncontradicted evidence and citation to legal authority that the validity of the gift by the Will to the Trustee of the Riste Trust was invalid and that therefore the Personal Representative breached his fiduciary duty by failing to contest the validity of the Riste Trust and allowing the commercial realty valued at over 1.1 million dollars to pass to the Riste Trust rather than as specified in the Will. (AOB 32, 36; ARB 11-12) The Superior Court's finding that the validity of the Riste Trust was not doubtful and that the Riste Trust was valid was based upon inapplicable legal authority. (Id.) The Superior Court erroneously found that the Riste Trust was valid by relying upon legal authority which was applicable only to the creation of a Trust by transfer of property to a Trustee during the Trustor's lifetime and was inapplicable to a gift from a Will to a Trustee and the corresponding requirements for creation of a valid Trust after the death of the Trustor; which was the situation which existed in the Estate of Dan McAnally and the purported gift by Will to the Trustee of the Riste Trust. (Id.) The legislature specifically required that a gift by a Will to a Trustee and the corresponding creation of a valid trust (which had not been funded during the Trustor's lifetime) was required to be evidenced by a written instrument separate from a Will. (Id.; see, RCW 11.12.250 and RCW 11.98.008) Without a valid gift to the Trustee of the Riste Trust which was unfunded during the Testator's lifetime rendered the Riste Trust invalid for failure to comply with the legislatures requirement for funding. (Id.) Petitioner presented the Court of Appeals with the error to which no response was provided in the unpublished opinion. (Id.) The Court of Appeals affirmance is in clear contravention of the legislatures express requirements for the gifting of property by a Will to a Trustee and the corresponding creation of a valid Trust after death of a Trustor who had not

otherwise funded the Trust during his lifetime. (Id.) The valid gifting of property by Will to a Trustee and the corresponding creation of a valid Trust which was otherwise unfunded during the lifetime of the Testator is also an important question of law and/or an issue of public importance justifying the Supreme Court's review as this issue will affect all persons in the State of Washington who may attempt to create a gift by Will. (RAP 13.4 (b)(3)&(4))

THE SUPERIOR COURT'S FAILURE TO CONSIDER THE DECEDENT'S INTENT AS

DISCRENED FROM THE FOUR CORNERS OF THE WILL AND THE COURT OF

APPEAL'S FAILURE TO REMAND OR CORRECT THE ERRONEOUS FAILURE TO

CONSIDER THE DECEDENT'S INTENT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY CONTRAVENES

WELL SETTLED LEGAL AUTHORITIES AND NECESSITATES SUPREME COURT

REVIEW

The Court of Appeals decision directly conflicts with the well settled decision(s) of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals which require the Decedent's lawful intent to be considered above all and therefore should be reviewed RAP 13.4 (b)(1)&(2),

[w]hen called upon to construe a will, the paramount duty of the court is to give effect to the testator's intent. In re Estate of Riemcke, 80 Wn.2d 722, 728 (1972). Such intention must, if possible, be ascertained from the language of the will itself and the will must be considered in its entirety and effect must be given every part thereof. In re Estate of Douglas, 65 Wn.2d 495, 499 (1965); Elder v. Seattle First Nat'l Bank, 33 Wn.2d 275, 278 (1949). The interpretation of a will or trust instrument, including the determination of whether a will contains an ambiguity, is a question of law subject to de novo review. In re Estate of Bernard, 182 Wn. App. 692, 704, 332 P.3d 480, review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1027 (2014). The purpose of construing a will is to give effect to the testator's intent.

(In re Estate of Bergau, 103 Wn.2d 431, 435-36 (1985); AOB 17-24, 45-46; ARB 13-29) The Superior Court's findings erroneously failed to consider the Decedent's intent at all regarding the limitations imposed upon the Personal Representative and/or Trustee's rights to sell commercial real estate and the Personal Representative and/or Trustee's duty to make quarterly income payments to the beneficiary(s). (Id.) The Decedent's intentions were set forth in the Will and

6, Will Sec. 6.1 & 10.3) and required quarterly income payments to the beneficiary(s) (Will Sec. 7.1) both of which were shown through uncontradicted evidence to have been violated. (Id.) The Superior Court's findings that the Non Intervention Personal Representative and/or Trustee had authority to sell the commercial realty without compliance with the Decedent's express limitations and that failure to make income distribution payments as specifically instructed by the Will/Riste Trust was not a breach of his fiduciary dutys is erroneous. (Id., see CP 609) The requirement for paramount consideration of the Decedent's intent is an important question of law and/or represents a significant public interest as the failure to do so will impact all state resident's attempting to create testamentary dispositions which effectuate their intent. ((RAP 13.4 (b)(3)&(4))

expressly limited the circumstances under which the commercial real estate could be sold (CP 1-

A NON INTERVENTION PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE IS NOT EXEMPT FROM THE LEGISLATURES STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS WHICH INCLUDES i)THE REQUIREMENTS TO PROVIDE THE BENEFICIARY(S) WITH ALL RELEVANT AND MATERIAL INFORMATION WHICH IS NECESSARY TO PROTECT THEIR INTERESTS, ii) THE STATUTORY DUTYS AND iii) THE DUTY OF LOYALTY

The decision conflicts with the decision(s) of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals which require a Personal Representative and/or Trustee to provide the beneficiary with all relevant material information which is necessary to protect their interests and therefore justifies review under RAP 13.4 (b)(1)&(2), (In re Estate of Jones, 152 Wn.2d 1 (2004) - "breaches included using estate property for personal use, commingling estate funds, and refusing to disclose information to the beneficiary(s)".) (Laier v. Adams, 7 Wn. App. 495, 500 (1972) — Indicating, that concealing the true value of an asset subject to administration is a breach of the fiduciary duty owed by the administrator of a decedent's estate) (The administrator of a decedent's estate is an officer of the court and stands in a fiduciary relationship to those beneficially interested in the estate. In the performance of his fiduciary duties he is obligated to

11 12 13

10

141516

17 18 19

2021

22

2324

25

26 27

28

exercise the utmost good faith and to utilize the skill, judgment, and diligence which would be employed by the ordinarily cautious and prudent person in the management of his own trust affairs. [Citing cases.] Concealing the true value of an asset subject to administration, to the detriment of an heir, is clearly a breach of [fiduciary duty] ((*In re Estate of Novolich*, 7 Wn. App. 495, 501-02 (1972))

Petitioner presented uncontradicted evidence that the beneficiary requested all relevant material information regarding the Personal Representatives intended sale of the Estate's commercial realty and in fact was forced to hire an attorney to assist him in requesting that information from the PR/Trustee and that despite numerous requests and stated opposition to any sale only false, misleading and/or incorrect information was provided. (AOB 26-31, 40, 43; ARB 19-24) Furthermore, the Personal Representative filed a Petition for Court Authorization to Sell the Estate's realty in which the Personal Representative was caught red handed misleading the beneficiary and the Court regarding his superceding requirement to diversify. (Id.) Contrary to the Personal Representatives claims which he made to both the Court and the beneficiary the legislature specifically exempted the Personal Representative of any duty to diversify estate realty during administration where the realty was not acquired after the Decedent's death for consideration. (Id., see, RCW 11.100.047 & 11.100.060) The realty in question had been in the Decedent's family for more than 30 years. Clearly, the Personal Representatives false representations of his superseding legal requirement to diversify intentionally and/or negligently mislead both the Court and the beneficiary of relevant material information. (Id.) The Personal Representative's dissemination of this false information was a breach of his fiduciary duty and was directly responsible for fraudulently inducing both the beneficiary and the Court to acquiesce in the Personal Representatives wishes to sell the Estate's realty without objection. (Id.) The interpretation of whether the legislature intended to require a Non Intervention PR/Trustee to abide by the duty to provide relevant and material information is a significant question of law and/or has great public interest as this will affect every PR/Trustee in the State and all those beneficiaries who need to be informed of all relevant and material information. ((RAP 13.4

3

5

6

7 8

9

10

11 12

13

14 15

16

17

18 19

20

2122

2324

25

2627

28

ii) The Legislatures set forth several statutory restrictions, limitations and requirements which are mandatory duty's imposed upon a Non Intervention PR and/or Trustee. (AOB 17-48; ARB 13-29, see also, Will Sec 10.1 - CP 1-6) The legislatures mandates were specifically enumerated within RCW 11.68.090 which requires a Non Intervention Personal Representative to abide by the Statutory restrictions set forth in Chapters 11.98 & 11.100. (Id.) Additionally, RCW 11.97.900 specifies that all statutes in Chapter 11.97 are applicable to Chapters 11.98 & 11.100. (Id.) Accordingly, RCW 11.97.020 further indicates that the rules of construction applicable to the disposition of property by a Will as set forth in Chapters 11.56 & 11.04 apply to the disposition of property by a Trust. (Id.) Petitioner set forth the applicable statuettes which were violated by the PR/Trustee and the Superior Court erroneously found that a Non Intervention Personal Representative was exempt from all of the legislatures statutory requirements in contravention of the legislative intent and purposes. (Id.; see, CP 601-612) The Court of Appeals erroneously affirmed without comment simply finding that the Superior Court's ruling was supported by substantial evidence. Accordingly, a significant question of law is raised by the Court of Appeals affirmance of an order which fails to consider the legislatures express limitations, restrictions and requirements imposed upon a Non Intervention PR and/or Trustee and/or the applicability of these statutes to a Non Intervention PR and/or Trustee is a matter of great public importance and should be reviewed by this Court. ((RAP 13.4(b)(3)&(4))

iii) The decision conflicts with several decisions of the Supreme Court and/or Court of Appeals which impose upon a Non Intervention Personal Representative and/or Trustee a duty of loyalty as set forth by RCW 11.98.078 and also a SOLE duty to the beneficiary RCW 11.100.045 which would include providing the beneficiary all relevant and material information necessary to protect their interests RCW 11.98.108, ensuring that the beneficiary were provided with accurate factual and legal information, disclosing any personal and/or conflicting interests and challenging any and all doubtful claims and therefore should be reviewed. ((RAP 13.4 (1)&(2)) The

PR/Trustee owes to the beneficiaries the highest degree of good faith, care, loyalty, and integrity. ((Esmieu v. Schrag, 88 Wn.2d 490, 498 (1977); Monroe v. Winn, 16 Wn.2d 497, 508 (1943); see also, In re Estate of Ehlers, 80 Wn. App. 751, 757 (1996) Citing, Estate of Jordan v. Hartford Accident & Indem. Co., 120 Wn.2d 490, 502 (1993) - "a trustee is a fiduciary who owes the highest degree of good faith, diligence and undivided loyalty to the beneficiaries.")) (([t]he trustees, as fiduciaries, owe to the beneficiaries the highest degree of good faith, care, loyalty and integrity. Monroe v. Winn, 16 Wn.2d 497 (1943); Bogert, Trusts and Trustees § 543 (2d ed. 1960). This duty includes the responsibility to inform the beneficiaries fully of all facts which would aid them in protecting their interests. See United States v. Bennett, 57 F. Supp. 670 (E.D. Wash. 1944); 90 C.J.S. Trusts § 247 (1955). At the very least, this would require the trustees to notify the beneficiaries of [...] which directly affected the disposition of the trust property. Though the trustees and defending beneficiaries were adversaries [...] the trustees' duty of loyalty and care was at no time suspended (Esmieu v. Schrag, 88 Wn.2d 490, 498 (Wash. 1977)

Petitioner presented the Superior Court with un-controverted evidence which indicated that the PR and/or Trustee provided the beneficiary inaccurate factual and legal information, failed to disclose his personal and/or conflicting interests and failed to challenge the validity of the Riste Trust thereby losing an assets worth between 1.1-1.7 million dollars. (AOB 12-48; ARB 11-29; CP 142-247) The Superior Court's finding that the PR and/or Trustees did not violate his duty of loyalty is contradicted by the evidence and an abuse of discretion which the Court of Appeals should have found prejudicial. (CP 601-612) Perplexingly, the Court of Appeals did not discuss the PR and/or Trustee's duty of loyalty and simply found that the Superior Court's decision was supported by substantial evidence. Review is also warranted under RAP 13.4 (b)(3)&(4) due to the potential impact upon the public's trust and reliance upon the fiduciary who should be informed and provided every opportunity to make an informed decision.

27 | /// 28 | ///

12 13

14 15

16 17

18

19

20

21

22 23

24

25

2627

28

THE PROBATE COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO ORDER THE SALE OF ESTATE REALTY WHICH IS BY STATUTE VESTED IN THE BENEFICIARY UPON THE DEATH OF DECEDENT AND A NON INTERVENTION PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE DOES NOT HAVE A RIGHT TO SELL ESTATE REALTY UNLESS THE ESTATE DOES NOT HAVE THE ABILITY TO PAY ALL DEBTS, EXPENSES AND TAXES OF ADMINISTRATION WITHOUT THE SALE

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