FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/19/2018 2:39 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95954-4

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### IN RE THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF DAN McANALLY AND THE RISTE TRUST

Darrell Riste, beneficiary of the Estate and the Riste Trust

Appellant/Petitioner

 $\mathbf{v}_{\cdot}$ 

Baker Boyer Bank, the Personal Representative of the Estate of Dan McAnally, and the Trustee of the Riste Trust

Appellee/Respondent

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sean A. Russel (WSBA #34915) Erika Hartliep (WSBA #33277) STOKES LAWRENCE VELIKANJE MOORE & SHORE 120 N. Naches Avenue Yakima, WA 98902-2757 (509) 853-3000 Attorneys for Baker Boyer Bank

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

# A. The Petition does not set forth any issues within the scope of RAP 13.4(b).

Rule of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") 13.4 provides a petition for review will only be accepted by the Supreme Court if one of four conditions are met: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals, (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved, or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The petition for review does not set forth any issue that falls within the scope of RAP 13.4(b).

#### B. Issues that are not briefed are waived under RAP 10.3.

RAP 10.3(a)(6) requires parties to provide "argument in support of the issues presented for review, together with citations to the legal authority and references to relevant parts of the record."

A party waives an assignment of error not adequately argued in its brief. *State v. Motherwell*, 114 Wn.2d 353, 358 n.3, 788 P.2d 1066 (1990). Issues that are not correctly briefed should not be considered by the Supreme Court. *Sprague v. Spokane Valley Fire Dep't*, 189 Wn.2d 858, 876, 409 P.3d 160 (2018). RAP 10.3; *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 808-09, 828 P.2d 549 (2002). Where no authority is cited in support of an appellant's contentions, the Supreme Court will assume that none exists. *In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Sanai*, 177 Wn.2d 743, 767, 302 P.3d 864 (2013); *Yeats v. Yeats' Estate*, 90 Wn.2d 201, 209, 580 P.2d 617 (1978).

Several of the Petitioner's issues for review are not correctly briefed and must not be considered. First, the Petitioner presents an issue which questions whether his due process rights were violated. *Petitioner's Motion for Discretionary Review, Issue No. 1.* The Petitioner does not, however, present argument to support the issue and fails to cite any authority to support his assertion. Second, the Petitioner raises an issue relating to Laches, but fails to present argument or legal authority in

support. Petitioner's Motion for Discretionary Review, Issue No. 8.

Finally, the Petitioner raises the issue of whether a Petition for Removal can be brought at any time during administration, but again fails to present argument or legal authority to support the issues. Petitioner's Motion for Discretionary Review, Issue No. 9.

The Court should not consider these issues because the Petitioner failed to comply with RAP 10.3.

### C. The Court of Appeals correctly found the Personal Representative had the authority to sell the Shopping Center.

The Petitioner misinterprets Washington law concerning the transferability of real property in this case. First, title to real property does not vest in a beneficiary upon the death of a decedent. Under RCW 11.04.250, title to real property vests at death *subject to probate*, and it vests against everyone *except the personal representative*. *Bickford v. Stewart*, 55 Wash. 278, 286, 104 P. 263 (1909) (title vests subject to administration and is not absolute until after administration). A-17.

Second, a personal representative acting with nonintervention powers, under RCW 11.68.090(1), has the authority to "sell" and "convey" real property. A-17. The Court of Appeals correctly found the Shopping Center was not a specific devise under the will, but rather it passed through the general residuary clause, which allowed the

Respondent to sell the asset. A-12. The Respondent was authorized to sell the Shopping Center in this case because it was an asset which passed under the residuary clause and the Respondent was appointed to serve as Personal Representative with non-intervention powers.

Despite the clear authority of RCW 11.68.090(1), the Respondent took an additional step to receive approval to sell the Shopping Center out of abundance of caution and to allow the Petitioner to object to the sale.

A-18. Counsel for the Petitioner was present at the hearing, but failed to object. The Court approved the sale of the Shopping Center. CP 132-133.

Finally, the Petitioner actually agreed to the sale of the Shopping Center (CP 216-217, 521) and signed a receipt acknowledging his full distributive share. CP 86-87, A-16.

#### D. The Respondent had the sole authority to interpret the Will.

Petitioner contends the Court of Appeals erred by not considering the decedent's intent regarding the sale of the Shopping Center.

Notwithstanding the Court of Appeals' analysis as to why the Respondent was legally entitled to sell the Shopping Center, the Petitioner's argument is unsupported and in conflict with *In re Estate of Rathbone*, 190 Wn.2d 332, 412 P.3d 1283 (2018).

In re Rathbone is dispositive on the issue of whether a Court may consider the decedent's intent when interpreting a will. The Court of

Appeals correctly found neither the probate court nor the Court of Appeals had the authority to interpret the Will. Under *Rathbone*, a personal representative with non-intervention powers has the sole authority to interpret the will. *Rathbone*, 190 Wn.2d at 345-46. A-13.

# E. The Court of Appeals correctly found the Personal Representative did not mislead the Petitioner or the Court.

The Court of Appeals correctly found there was insufficient evidence to establish the Respondent provided misleading information to the Petitioner or the probate court. A-18. The Court of Appeals noted that the Petitioner failed to provide a sufficient citation to the record so the Court of Appeals could not discern the specific act or statements by the Respondent the Petitioner believed were misleading. A-19. The Court of Appeals further noted that if the purported misleading information related to the sale of real property or interpretation of the will those acts were appropriate. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals correctly found the Respondent's delay in providing some information was excusable and was not cause to remove the Respondent as Personal Representative. The record supports the Court of Appeals' decision. A-19. First, the Respondent eventually provided the Petitioner with a copy of the requested information. Second, the Petitioner never sought court action against the Respondent under

RCW 11.44.050 and did not timely object to the delay. Finally, upon receiving the information, the Petitioner did not challenge the validity of the information contained in the inventory and did not show any damages. A-19. In fact, the Petitioner waited for over two years to complain about the delay after receiving the information and waited until two days before the Respondent filed its declaration of completion to complain. A-19, CP 142-148.

### F. The Court of Appeals correctly found issues relating to the Riste Trust were not properly before the Court.

The Court of Appeals correctly found the issues relating to the Trust were not properly before the Court because the probate court decision related to the administration of the Estate and therefore the Trust was never a party to the probate proceeding. A-8. Simply adding the Trust as a party to the appeal is incorrect when the Trust was not a party to the probate proceedings. The Court of Appeals also correctly found the Petitioner failed to brief the conflict of interest issue and therefore the argument was waived under RAP 13.4(c). A-14.

# G. The Court of Appeals correctly found removal of the Respondent as Personal Representative was unnecessary.

The probate court has broad discretion to determine whether and for what grounds to removal a personal representative. *In re Estates of Aaberg*, 25 Wn. App. 336, 339, 607 P.2d 1227 (1980). The probate court

provided sound reasoning for why it did not remove the Respondent as

Personal Representative. A-15. The probate court noted that many of the
reasons the Petitioner sought to remove the Respondent related to the sale
of the Shopping Center. A-16.

The Court of Appeals correctly considered the probate court's reasoning in detail. The Court of Appeals noted (1) the Petitioner agreed to the sale of the Shopping Center (A-16), (2) the Respondent had the right to sell the Shopping Center (A-17), and (3) the reason the Respondent decided to sell the Shopping Center was appropriate (A-18).

Finally, the Court of Appeals correctly identified the heightened "abuse of discretion" standard as set forth in *Estates of Aaberg* applies to the issue of whether the probate court correctly decided not to remove the Respondent as Personal Representative. The Court of Appeals correctly found the probate court's decision was "well supported by the record and the law," and that the decision "reflected a substantial amount of preparation and consideration." A-20.

# H. The Court of Appeals correctly found there was no conflict of interest and no breach of fiduciary duty relating to distributions.

The record establishes the Respondent invested residual funds into a separate trust account, and the Petitioner received net income from the Trust funds. CP 453. Although the Petitioner's authorization to transfer

funds from the Estate to the Trust was not provided, the Petitioner's authorization was not required because he was not the Personal Representative of the Estate. The Court of Appeals correctly found there was no conflict of interest. A-13.

#### V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Petitioner's petition for discretionary review should be denied.